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Miscellaneous Tracts, 321
scandal to them in the highlands to think of capitulating, so long as your majesty was
in Ireland at the head of an army, and had so many friends in ‘Britain, who pretended
to be willing to serve you; whereupon they all agreed willingly to what he had said,
and it was resolved, That (until the season of the year was a little better advanced,
and the seed might be thrown into the ground before they made a general rendezvous
into the fields, and that their friends in the low countries might come and join them)
Major-General Buchan should have a detachment of one thousand two hundred foot
to go down to the borders of the low country, to amuse the enemy and fatigue their
troops, by alarming them in several of their quarters. Immediately he marched with
them down Strathspey, and continued there without doing any thing, till they were
surprised at Gromdale by Sir Thomas Livingstone, about the beginning of May.

The spring being far advanced, and the money that was laid on in the then last ses-
sion of parliament exhausted, this put the Prince of Orange to great difficulties, either
to grant the extravagant demands urged by Sir James Montgomery and those of his
party, or to let all the army, which consisted of near ten thousand men, be absolutely
ruined for want of pay. The more the club party saw him straitened, the more the
augmented their pretensions; and being in this necessity, he seemed to yield to their
demands, sending my Lord Melvil down with instructions to grant these things, yet
only in case he could do no better, and so imminent danger from your friends, which
gave him a pretext for yielding to several things in parliament, above his instructions,
and contrary to the Prince of Orange’s inclinations; (this was after the treachery of
some of our Rumber that had ruined all,) and for which he would have been in disgrace,
if the villany of those who made the discovery of what was intended for your service,
had not brought him off, serving as a prince of absolute necessity ; for what he hid for
several months before the parliament had been adjourned from time to time. This put
the fanaticks, and these who were to have their estates restored, in a mighty rage ; that
they began to doubt of his intentions, either to establish their religion, or to restore
their estates to them ; but seeing the Lord Melvil was named commissioner, and pre-
paring to godown, they all took leave, most part very discontent : the Prince of Orange
not having it in his power to satisfy the third part of these pretenders,

Having ended their affairs at London, both sides hasted down to Scotland, to secure
their party : Such members as had staid there was only Sir James Montgomery, who
was the chief manager of this party, who for some weeks staid behind and imparted
his design to several of your friends there, who so belicved him and trusted so much to
his undertaking, that he had eleven hundred guineas given him by Mr Ashton to ad-
vance the interest, but the Marquis of Athole, to whom Sir James had imparted all his
intentions, got the carrying of them down, and made his own use of them, as shall be
made appear. Of all that had passed among the club party at London, and of their
intentions to serve your majesty, nothing was known in Scotland among your friends,
until the Earl of Argyle and Lord Ross came down; they openly exclaimed against
the usage they had met with from the Prince of Orange, but there was little notice taken
of it, considering the too unfitness of their tempers, until the whole set did the same:
Their discourses made your friends hope some use might be made of their divisions,
and so made them live more friendly with them than formerly. The Earl of Argyle,
as he was always the most forward of his party, so in this he was the first that gropo- ‘
séd the whole affair to the Earl of Dundee, and me, then in the castle of Edinburgh. .
He said, that I, of all men living, had least reason to believe what he was about to tell
me, considering how he had used me in the convention, n leaving us gbm tly, apd
becoming the most violent against us ; he acknowledged bis fault, and wished that the
bloeod of his body could wash ofl the stains of his past miscarriages both to his king
and friends, and Loped that these misfortunes should for the future serve as somu{ :
beacons to warn him to avoid the like in time comiug, with a great deal more of this

YOL, XI. Svu
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sort, which he spoke with so much passion and appearance of sincerity, that we were
but too soon taken with it, and were the more easily deceived, as being glad to find
any returning to their duty ; he told us likewise, that he entirely confided in us, and
put his life and fortune in our hands, without pretending any trust from us, only de-
sired we might live in friendship till the Marquis of Annandale, Duke of Queensberry,
Earl of Arran, Viscount of Tarbat, and Sir James Montgomery should come to town,
who would inform us of all that had passed at London ; and since they had received
your majesty’s pardon for what was past, and now venturing their lives to serve you,
they expected all your friends would join heartily in the common cause to ruin the
Prince of Orange, and restore your majesty.

A few weeks after, the Lord Dunmore and we bhad our liberty, my Lord Melvil
came down, and all the parliament members met, but were adjourned for a fortnight.
This gave time to the club party to be industrious with your friends, to come in and
Join with them for settling religion and the peace of the nation, as they pretended, for
any design for your majesty’s service was to be kept secret amongst a few. The diffi-
culties were extraordinary how to reconcile such different interests, tempers, and per-
suasions, as were that of your friends and the club party, for they, both in convention
and parliament, had been the most violent against your majesty and your friends : Be-
sides, their whole design at the bottom, was for the height of violence and oppression ;
tor their greatest quarrel at the Prince of Orange, was for not suffering them to go to
all the extravagancies of their religion and revenge, which is sg mingled together, that
it is hard to know the one from the other; and they were %ikewise diwided among
themselves, for none, except James Lord Ross, Earl of Argyle, and Mr Ogilvie, were
to know of any resolution to serve your majesty ; and Duke Hamilton and his followers
had no design but the ruin of the Lord Melvil and Stair, and to get the sessioa filled with
his own creatures, having at that time many law-suits in hand ; but though they had
all different designs, gret they all agreed in this, That nothing could be done, except
your friends could be persuaded to join, without they saw Lord Melvil and Stair’s party
could be too strong for them, having all the profitable employments and session in their
hands.

Sir James Montgomery undertook to manage this affair, pretending he knew
the inclination of a great many of your friends, who would join with any party to ruin
the Lord Melvil and, Stair, and keep public burdens to be employed in parliament,
and to oblige the Prince of Orange to establish the session, according to the claim of
right voted in the convention, and to have a kabeas corpus, and freedom of speech in
parliament. These were the pretexts he made use of, which were so taking with the
most bigotted part of them, that they doubted not to get these acts passed, if we would
join with them in all other demands, which were to have the presbyterian government
established at its height of power, the king’s supremacy, and the committee of parlia-
ment called the Articles (which was already voted in the convention a grievance) taken
away ; thus by the quality of them was believed at first to be all the design, without
knowing in the least that it was only to make them disobliged at the Prince of Orange,

~ if he should refuse their demands, and to try next if your majesty would grant them,
For all kings just or unjust are alike to them.

To all your friends 1t was very evident, how great an advantage might be had, by

., -joining with the violent party, for by that we thought ourselves sure of breaking their

army, which consisted of about ten thousand men, and which must be immediately

disbanded, when they saw the parliament establish no fund, neither for paying their

arrears nor subsistence, and all have gone in confusion ; and your majesty Zeing then

0 Ireland, and the Highlanders in a better disposition to rise, it were easy to make a

“goed ‘use of their dnoui ers.
. " Bir James, in the first meeting we bad with him, laid out the great advantages your
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interest could obtain, if this succeeded ; the strength of his own party, and all the
influence hg had over them. He told us likewise of their sending a messenger to your
majesty, with assurances of their returning to their duty; but said nothing of the in-
structions, commissions, and pernicious advices he had sent along, befieving (as un-
doubtedly) it would have hindered us from joining with them ; for by this we should
have clearly seen it was only trying to make a better bargain for themselves made them
change parties, and not out of any sentiments of conviction for having done amiss ; but
though it was very evident to us what disorders we would make among our enemies,
and what profit to your party by going into the parliament, yet to join with our mor-
tal enemils, only to make the one half ruin the other, and to take the oath of allegiance
to an usurper, and to comply with them in things that had always been against our
principles, were so bard to get over, that some of us had greater difficulties to overcome
them ; nor even could any have done it, but the great desire we had to be instruments
of your majesty's restoration, and ruin of your enemies,

There were two things that made us very willingly to join with them ; the Marquis
of Athole and the Earl of Arran asserted your majesty’s knowing the design and ap-
proving of it, so far as to be convinced at that time, you thought it the greatest piece
of service could be done you: next, the Viscount of Tarbat assuring us particuﬁirly,
that the Prince of Orange was fully resolved never to grant any of these demands,
which he knew the club party intended to propose in parliament.- And being sure of
their firm resolution never to grant any thing, except they obtained all they desired,
we could not doubt to obtain all we pretended, which was the dissolution of the par-
liament. Nor could it be imagined but Lord Tarbat wished it as well as we, though
on different motives, for then he was entirely in the Prince of Orange’s interest, and
trusted move by him than any of the nation, insomuch that at his coming from London
he had a trust given him, that few subjects ever had the like, for he had a full power
to make a cessation of arms, or peace, with the Highlanders, to dispose of twenty
thousand pounds sterling, as he thought fit for the Prince range’s service, and
three titles of honour to whom he pleased ; and was to give account of all that passed
in parliament, and had full power to adjourn or dissolve, as he thought fit; but though
he had all this trust, and might dissolve the parliament when he pleased, yet he durst
not venture it ; and though he had more enemies, there were more afraid of its sitting,
than any of your servants ; yet though he could get it easier done, and with less ha-
zard to himself, by the high hand of the club party, and which would have the same
effect to secure himself, and enrage the Prince of Orange at his enemies.

These considerations made him take more pains underhand than any, to engage you
friends with the club party, and to get them to come to the parliament. To some who
believed him, be said he designed nothing but your service ; but to others, that it was
for the good of the nation, by obtaining acts that would be so beneficial to it. Being
thus made believe that your majesty liked the proposition, and hopes of doing what he
designed, made us resolve, notwithstanding of all our scruplcs_, not only to join with
the club party, but to use all the endeavours to persuade our friends, and all those we
had any influence upon, to do the like ; which succeeded as we could wish, for most
part of all who had continued so firm to your interest, resolved to follow our example,
without desiting to know the bottom of that secret correspondence we had with the
club party ; some there were that made difficulty, the Earl of Home, the Earl of Lau-
derdale, Lord Oxenfoord, Lord Stormont, and the Master of Bute; but their reasons
were out of apprehensions of betrazing and yielding to the Pringe of Orange, than
any other scruples, though I doubt but some of them had their reasons, and so might
they very justly, cousidering how nice a point it was ; others lppegrcd resolved, and
engaged fairly, but when the time of the sitting down of the ll:::rlmment_ drew nigh,
they ablent.ﬂf themselves, which gave great encouragement to Lord Melvil and all his
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party to meet in parliament, who were in such apprehensions of success before, that se-
veral times he was resolved to dissolve it, and to take a venture of another ; but when
they saw that several of your friends drew back, and had secured to themselves several
votes, by dividing the office of every register in six, and giving each a vote, and one
for a treasurer depute ; and by giving money to some, and promises of employments to
others, they so strengthened their party, that they again took heart and resolved then
to begin their parliament, which sat down the day of April, 1690 ; but notwith-
standing all the sinister courses that were taken to procure votes, never were men in
such apprehensions and fears as was Lord Melvil and all his friends, for they not only
saw the danger of their whole party if they succeeded not, butimmediate ruin’to them-
selves from the Prince of Orange, to whom they had so fairly undertaken, after that
he had read over the speech that he had got made for him, and that his president the
Earl of Crawfoord had made another, all taken from the old prophets, which he ap-
plied to the occasion, as of Ezra and Nehemiah’s building again the temple of Jerusa-
lem : they brought in a vote about the election of a burgh, only to know their strength,
which, though found above their expectation, they carried it but by six or seven,
which makes a demonstration, that if these of your friends which engaged to us had
not failed, we had outvoted them in that, and so consequently had all our design;
for it was firmly resolved among them, that if they had lost that vote, though of no
consequence, they would have adjourned the parliament next day; but gaining it,
they took heart, and that which befel your friends m the convention happened just
again; for several who pretended to be our friends when they thought us strongest,
left us immediately, and joined with the other party: Sir James Montgomery also
tailed, and several also he had cngaged, for believing his interest far greater with them
than truly it was, so from that minute we lost hopes of doing any good ; but sceing
we had once made such a step, we resolved to stay in the house, though it should be
for nothing but to higder them from going on so fast in their design of ferteiting all
those who had appeat® for your majesty, and the giving money as soon as they in-
tended to support their forces and government, but never men made a more miserable
figure in any meeting, than your friends did in this; after they saw themselves aban-
doned and outvoted in every thing, they had nothing to do but to sitand hiear Duke
Hamilton bawl and bluster, according to his usual custom, and then acquiesced to all
that was proposed ; and Sir James I\'Fontgomcry and Sir John Dalrymple scolded like
kail wives; that rogue, villain, and liar were their usual terms ; these two were the chief
managers of both sides, Sir John pretending to mention the king's prerogative, Sir
James the liberty of the subjects and claim of right, and though he was never bred
with such undertakings, yet with abundance of confidence and eloquence he managed
the affair, and if be bad but wanted, Sir John Dalrymple and your friends had not been
very indifferent, who had lost or won ; after they saw all their designs desperate, he
had undoubtedly put them to greater straits, for the things he urged were very popu-
lar, and agreeable to the inclinations of many of the members ; notwithstanding of all
disappointments, we were still to make them break among themselves, by proposing
what we thought never would be granted ; but in this also we were disappointed, for
my Lord Melvil, to justify what he and his party had so great a desire to do, but
durst not adventure before, having got the pretext of the imminent danger of both the
Prince of Orange and Kam,' were in, by the secret plots and contrivances of your
majesty’s friends yielded to all that was demauded in his instructions, he was allowed
to pass what acts of parliament he should think fit, and establish what form of govern-
ment they liked best,

" Several days passed without daring to mention presbytery, though most there desi-

‘?«Y :
* These three letters seem to be a cypher. It would scem to imply kick government or presbytery,
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red it, knowing that it was contrary to the Prince of Orange's inclinations, who fear-
ed the consequence it might have in England ; besides he liked best to have it undeter.
mined till his atfairs were better established, that he might keep both parties in hopes ;
but Sir James, in a fair set speech, spake out what they all wished generally, but fear-
ed to name, and that he knew there were instructions for settling religion ; and he said
he thought it was a shame for that meeting, it was not yet done, but the reason was
well known, for some among them, to flatter the court (against their own principles)
had delayed it ; he knew likewise some were for one kind of government, some another,
some were of a certain kind of presbytery called Erastianism, like that of Holland ;
but he told them, there could not, nor ought there any to be established in Scotland,
but the presbyterian as it was in 1648 ; which was the %(wcrnmcm in the world not
only according to the word of God, but best to disturb the extravagant power of
kings, and arbitrary government, under which they had groaned many years. This
speech to us that knew his secrets, seemed a little extraordinary ; but he excused him-
self by being obliged to do so, otherwise would lose all credit with his party, and that
it signified nothing since he knew that Lord Melvil never durst pass it, though it
came to be proved. This speech was approved by the house, and a committee ap-
pointed to receive all the forms of governinent that should be brought before them,
and to report their opinions of them ; and Lll this was ready, they adjourned some
days, during which Sir Jaumes received from Ireland a return of .his message with Mr
Jones. The first night he opened alone a great black box with papers, where all the
cominissions and instrections were, and then sent for the Farls of Annandale, Arran,
and my Lord Ross, and told them the return of all was come; but that he believed
there were several things among them would be improper to let the Duke of Queens-
berry, Earls of Linlithgow, Breadalbine, and me see, though we were only those of your
friends whdm they bad trusted with your message these four times. After they had
considered them all, made up another box of such as they thought fit to shew, and
scaled it, to make us believe it never had been opened, and in ¥ great haste Sir James
desired us to meet in the Marquis of Annandale’s lodging ; and, after.a formal dis-
course of his endeavours to serve your majesty ever since he went up with an offer of
the crown to the Prince of Orange, and of the message he had sent your majesty, said
he was now desired to meet with us to tell us, that he had got a return, and that there
was a great bundle of papers come over, but considering we were all of one interest,
he would not open it, nor look on any thing till we did it altogether, and entreated we
might meet that atternoon ; aud to shew the entire trust he had in us, he would keep
nothing that he knew from us, but would shew what he had received from the king.
The Earl of Arran excused himself from meeting, pretending he was obliged to go out
of town; but the true reason was, he thought they had cheated him in not sending for
his commission to be general, as was agreed among them at London. The Duke of
Quecnsberry also excused himselt, so that none came but the Marquis of Annandale,
Liulithgow, Ross, Breadalbine, and myself : Sir James brought in a black box, which
was a burden for him to carry, which I looked upon and considered the seals, because
I always expected a trick from him ; he u_ml us, he had brought all except a le‘tter
from your majesty to himself, without knowing, as he shall answer to Almighty God,
what was in the box; which none of us believed, for he did quite change the pack-
thread, and clapped on his own seal, after he had opened the box and shewn what h;‘
thought fit to bing  We were all in a great confusion to find that we had joine
ourscives to such a crew, that had so much knavery to impose those things on your
majisly, and so much weakuess to think they could bring about all your {‘:_lledﬂ'ilts to,
deciare for you without any force ; they were in no less confusion than we, fin ;ug we
saw their folly in undertaking things they had not the least shadow of power to. pers.

form,
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They had promised to get all the parliament to declare for your majesty, and im"
mediately meet in your,name, and the Earl of Argyle commissioner, who was made a
marquis, and Sir James made Earl of Air, Lord Ross likewise an earl, and all employ-
ments of church and state and army entirely put into their hands, and these of their
friends were generally the greatest enemmes to monarchy.

There were likewise great bundles of letters not directed, but left to their direction
to be given to any of your friends they thought fit to trust, which indeed we thought
a little hard to be put in their hands, who had been for fighting your majesty, and also
endeavouring to ruin us on your account ; besides what we saw, there were many other
commissions, patents, and remissions that were made public by themselves, after they
made their discovery to Lord Melvil; but though they were found to get these com-
missions when they came, they were confounded what to do with them. To keep
them, they saw there would be no use for them, and they put them in a continual
hazard, so it was resolved that they should be all burnt, but their patent. Next how to
dispose of their messenger put them in a great disorder, which made the Earl of Lin-
lithgow carry him to his house, some miles from Edinburgh, where, after he had staid
some nights, he got from him all that Sir-James had and concealed, notwithstanding
Sir James wrote to Mr Jones, not to trust any of us with his message, but as far as he
bad already shewn ; vet all was out before the letter came to his hands, besides Mr Jones
had been but a few hours in Edinburgh, yet he plainly saw all Sir James’s projects
were miserably founded, which made him beg to be employed back again to your
majesty ; but few of us desired any more to do with Sir Jamescor his messenger; for
afterwards we had little meddling with them, though they extremely desired it, and
yet we should send back Mr Jones with a blank sheet of paper, subsigning to be filled
up when he came to your majesty with our advice, which the Duke of Queensbesry,
Linlithgow, Breadalbine, and myself absolutely refused, which almost broke ‘us entirely
with them, and the more because some of our number complied with their desires, for
the Earl of Arran not only did it himself, but also got the iord Murray to do it also,
though he bad not been engaged with us in any of your concerns; but on the contrar{',
we looked upon him as one of the principal destroyers of your affairs, both in the High
lands, and at the beginningfof the Revolution. In the {lighlands your affairs had no
better success than in the parliament, for General Buntein having come too near the
enemy, Sir Thomas Livingstone, with a party of dragoons, surprised him at Cromdell,
killed about one hundred, made several prisoners, and dispersed his whole party. When
this news came to Edinburgh of a defeat, your friendsjthen repented their not embracing
the offer of a cessation of arms made by the Prince of Orange, which Tarbat had the
management of, but not being desirous to appear above board himself in such a trans-
action, he proposed it to the Earl of Breadalbine, with the offer of 5000. sterling, if
he could accomplish’ it, for the Prince of Orange was extremely desirous to have all
settled before he went to Ireland, but the Earl of Breadalbine would not meddle in such
an affair without the consent of your friends at Edinburgh, who at that time would
not hear of it, so the Earl of Breadalbine very generously gave it over, though, besides
the 5000/. sterling, he had other considerable rewards offered him; so after this de-
parture, we were all willing a treaty might be brought on again, considering at least it
would gain time until the Highlanders put themselves in a posture of defence. The
Prince of Orange was just then going to lreland, which made the Earl of Breadalbine
€éndeavour to-meet him to get the cessation ended, but he was gone before he got to
him, by which the Highlanders were left to the mercy of their enemies, who might
bave ruined them if they bad pursued the victory of Cromdell.

) Your ﬁicndlatEd'mbprgh were in no better condition, being forced to sit in a meet-
ing in the middle of their enemies, and hear them establish presbytery, and rescind all
acts that had been any way preg\udicial to your interest, restoring all forfeitures and
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fines, (though transacted for) that was granted by your brother or your mafesty for
these that served you against them ; and above all, their forfeiting these who appeared
for you in arms, except Sir William Wallace, who was overlooked, though they had as
full probation against him as any of the rest; and, to finish our misfortunes, the con-
siderable of these of that party we had joined, not only left us, but betrayed us so soon
as they saw small probability of effectuating their own designs; which was the only
thing they had still and all along aimed at, and not your service, as they pretended,
some days before the Prince of Orange went to Chester.

I bad notice given me by Mr Ogilvie, that the Lord Ross designed to go to meet
him, andl make a discovery of all he knew ; which made us send the Earl of Linlith-
gow to him, to try if he had such inclinations ; but he protested to the contrary with
great oaths ; some were inclined to believe him, and others were for taking a sure
way to hinder his discovery, since theirown lives and estates depended on your affairs ;
but it was of so dangerous a consequence and so unjust, unless we had great proof or
suspicion, that most of us abhorred the motion.

few days after, though he gave over his journey to Chester, believing by what the
Earl of Linlithgow said to him, that we suspected him, and so might have way-laid
him ; yet notwithstanding of all his renewed oaths, he sent for one Mr Dundas, a
fanatick minister, and revealed a!l he knew to him, and also told him, that he was un-
der great troubles of conscience, and desired his prayers to enable him to open his heart
to him ; after long pravers, and many sighs and tears, he told him all he knew: God
was thanked as being the effect, Mr Dundas’s prayers being heard.

The next morning he sent the minister to Lord Melvil, to tell him, that he had a
business of great import to tell the queen, for which he desired a pass, and immediately
had it ; and before he went, he told Melvil in general, that there were dangerous mat-
ters against the king and government, in which he had too great a share, and for which
he sought God's pardon, but was denied, and was now going to seck it from the queen,
to whom he would discover all he knew, when at London.,

The first meeting he had with the Princess of Orange, he told her the whole affair,
and laid all the blame on Sir James Montgomery ; when she had heard all the history,
she sent for the Earls of Denbigh and Nottingham, that he might tell it all over again
before them ; but when they came in, he denied all he had said to the princess ; he
never thought she would make any other use of it, than to prevent the danger she and
the king were in; but nothing ever forced him to give evidence against those he had
been in friendship with; for this he was immediutel_y sent to the Tower, where he lay
for eight or ten months ; nor could any thing ever induce him to say more, though he
had both threatnings and all arguments to enforce him. It was no sooner known that
Lord Ross was gone, but his errand was mgdc_pub]wk.. . _

Mr Dundas, (according to the custom of his profession) made no secret of his con-
fession, which so much alarmed Sir James Montgon_mry, that he resolved not to be
long behind him, for he saw himself ruined by his violent party ; he had been profes-
sing to all of them all along Krinci les so far to the contrary, but to make a confession
to his mortal enemy, Lord Melvil, to seek mercy from the Prince and Princess of
Orange, who he knew abhorred him, were a hard step; yet with a good share of con-
fidence and assurance of makinE a fine story of it to their advantage, he doubted not
1o succeed with Lord Melvil ; he insinuated so far, as to be trusted to go to Londop,
10 tell his business himself ; and to gain the greater credit with Melvil, he put into his
hands what letters he had received from the queen, which was a joyful _mﬁht to him ;
for from that time they continued, he ventured to touch all the acts which was belie-
ved he could never do, which were displeasmg to the Prince of Orange, though he was
forced, to please the club party, to put them in his instructions, and several for ﬂs’iﬁ
he had no warrant, making the imminent danger they were in an excuse of all,
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these letters were several promises of assurance from France, of men, money, and arms ;
he likewise gave up the-instructions sent to the Earl of Annandale, when he should be
commissioner to the parliament ; but in all their discoveries there was never a word
mentioned of their patents, and remissions were sent to Duke Hamilton, and others of
their friends. 4

When Sir James came to London, he was so cautious as not to go near the Princess
of Orange, till he had assurance, that in case they could not agree in their terms, he
should not be detamed, which was granted ; but though he confessed most.of all that
passed of his transactions with your majesty, yet he would neither promise to be an
evidence, nor give his advice how things might be prevented, which, to maghify him-
“lﬂgﬁm_ hazard much greater than it was, unless he were secure of a full par-
don of all the crimes he should name, and then have a good employment, pretending
the lowness of his estate, which was drawn by the severity of the last government.
The Princess of Orange would have willingly granted all he demanded, and wrote to
the Prince of Orange in his favour in Irelan! ; but some things had passed betwixt the
Prince of Orange and Sir James in private, which made the prince to have such an ab-
horrence of him, that he could not hear of employing him ; a remission he would have
granted upon condition of his being an evidence, but that could not do Sir James’s
business, 50 he absented, and a few months after.did all he could again to justify him-
self 1o your friends, which took not with afew. The Earl of Argyle quickly followed
Sir James ; yet went not to Loundon, but lived privately at the Bath, which, when it
was known, there was a warrant sent down to bring him up; but one Mr , who
had been mayor of the town, helped him to escape. When he was come to London,
Mr Ferguson maintained him privately for several weeks; at last, he, wearied of lurk-
ini; sent for Mr Lockhart, whom Lord M 1 kept then at London to ¢o business
in his absence ; he told of the mayor of Bath, and of Mr Ferguson, that had entertain-
ed him, and signed a confession the most scandalous that any thing of the name of a
gentleman ever did, for he notonly told what had passed among us in publick, but

ivate conversations he had with several of your f{',i‘csnds, and likewise of Payne all
that had passed between them at first meeting, for which Payne was put to the
torture, and endured it with geat courage and constancy ; and that which made his

rt more base was, after Mr Payne had escaped out of prison, fled to Scotland; think-
%& be secure with the Earl of Argyle, he came to a country-house, and was
re by Argyle’s own servants, and brought to Edinburgh, where (upon the
Eadl of. ‘confession against him in England) he suffered the uttermost barba,
rity, The 1 ‘of these three made all our friends at Edinburgh so concerned,
though ‘they 'were not fully informed of their bazard, that most. of them left it . . .
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ih ears of one who s lived at the head of armies. But it is impossible to de

‘rashness and barbarity of the , although it even seems to have been exceeded by the
with which it was carried into execution.

It wu not uatil 1695, that the cry of the nation produced some show of an enqu

transaction. But to prevent its being moved in the Scottish pa

.ot ll ely to be so lightly Wm, the king directed a
eeminyerum,all,. , to take a p
commission -

mﬂn
It was remarkable in these prooeed
dication of the justice and honour govemmen e&d
‘nalized, for none of the perpetrators were ever
“all such as thought it worth while to ask ﬁ;rrcmtmom.
~ ed a more effectual vindication of the honour of
§ m‘wm ever made puhl&c ull after the kxng'i

v




at the m’bﬂ of ﬁe t:ommm«oﬁ,thc
duplicates of the Lord Stair’s let-
e at London ; or, if they should
orm themselves fnﬂy in the truth
tary of state for Scotland, and had
] oa this enquiry, and search into
\ .grieved at the heart, that the
ou redtomch by that affair. I would
hould know any thing of your design to publish this;
§ t his diligence to serve and obey the quicen in this
ys h.xbe;bneof the chief cansesof our nation’s losing that
mnt‘gu yet he is so nice in point of honour, that he chused rather
t to himself, and to lie under i imputations, than to give any part of those
pnbhshcd. though fi ne-ﬂgnmd to it ; because he said 1t would be un-
n, that had once been s secretary, to doany such thing: there—
are carefully to ::fonoeal &::‘ matter from him ul(li it ll:ebpubl;:;e({
,a,lqnnl y you, if you it to go and tell him t be
far ing ti.'l”; to him mthoum!:elreave ; and though I may mﬂ"eg;
: pi by what ave. «done, yet, if this publication may any ways oblige
lnn. do h tell” hls late master, and hu country further justice, by telhng what
‘knows more of the. matter, Ishall be the easier under his displeasure. T had almost
to notice, that the Duke of Athole, the lord chancellor,“and Marquis of Annan-
d-lc, all now at London, were members of the commission, who made the inclosed re-
port; and however scru tEnlous they may have been in point of honour, to communicate
any papers relating 0 this matter, they cannot in honour but own, that this bistory is
»m if any of the Engluh nobility think fit to enquire at them about it; but
e care¥ul to let none of them know any thing of your design to pubhsh it,
m m you have this information ; though, if they should come to know it, I
glx rather to incur their displeasure, by appealing to them, than to omit any t.hmg
&babhu in my power, m Q‘an’m the honour and justice of our country.
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; athﬂlcugm committed at Glawo upon the 13th Day quc-
it ek b M 1692.
“B‘ :’g ’}-‘ ;
M , Brit. &c. Ommbus probis hominibus, ad quos prmentu
m Quandoquidem nos counsiderantes, quod etiamsi
’W instructionem, potestatem concessimus, de mortuo
, aliisque, pro examinando et inquirendo de cade quorun-
pnald aliorumg e e Glenoo,an m, 1662, et de modo et
] : I8 inquisitio qua tunc facta erat:in ;
ue etiam perpendentes, quod mcthm
de veris circumstantiis rei antedictae,
mbu abunde satisfactum sit de facultatibus

tamm in fines supra expressos : Sciatis igitur noes
esentium n imct_oonsum fidelissimos et




Archib: Hope de Rankéiller; et Doni! Guliel. Hamilton'de Wiitelaw Sesiat
S T s S i g
de s i{gnorum; iquitigie SnMmerus €xit legitimts dar i Y Deuaiy
.,,mﬁige,, rP gy gitimus ‘ac’ cum m-l il ‘elericum

di) commissionarios nostros pro capienda precogt :
faciendo de ceede preedicta, per quos et qgomoc;gl, et pevpr::aﬂohnt:t&‘ ithor
commissa erat, atque in ordine ad detectionem ejusdem cum  potestate dictis commis-
stonariis, requirendi omnia warranta seu directiones quee eatenus concessa fiiere, atque
etiam examinandi omnes personas, qu in re antedicta negotium habuere atque etiam
testes prout necessarium nvemietur, sive per eorum juramenta, sive declarationes, et
tunc postta dicti commissionarii nobis transmittent verum statum rei antedictz una
eum probationibus et testimomiis coram ipsis adducendis, uti post debitam et plenam
informationem, necessarias directiones, eatenus concedamus prout nobis congruum vi-
debitur.  In cujus rei testimonium, presentibus, magnum sigillum * nostrum ndi
mandavimus apud aulam nostram de Kensington, vigesimio nono die mensis Aprili
anno Domini milesimo sexcentesimo nonagesimo quinto, annoque regni nostri septimo,
: ER R A L1
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Per sign:turam manu. §. D. N, regis .supnscriptam.

Written to the great seal and reg. May 20, 1695,

pas X

Don. Ranwvarp, Deputy. s : .

- Sealed at Edinburgh, May 80, 1695,
: TR Jo. Dicksowe.

In English thus: :

William, by the grace of God, King of Great Britain, &e. To all good men to whom
these rresents shall come, greeting. - Whereas we have taken into consideration, that
though in the year of our Lord 1698, we gave power, by express instructions, te
William Duke of Hamilton, deceased, and others, to examine and enquire into the
slaughter of certain people of the name of Macdonald and others in Glenco, in the
year 1692, and into the way and manner how the same was committed ; yet, never-
theless, the enquiry then made, pursuant to the said instructions, was defective; and
considering, likewise, that the most effectual method for receiving full information of

the true circumstances of the matter aforesaid, must be by a commission to that effect ;

and being very well satisfied of the abilities and fitness of the persons under-n

for the ends above expressed ; know ye, therefore, that we have named and constituted,
and by the tenor of these presents do name and constitute, our right trusty and well-
beloved cousin and councellor, John Marquis of Tweddale, our high chancellor, and
William Earl of Aunandale, and our trusty and beloved counceliors John Lord Murray,
SirJames Stuart, ouradvocate, Adam Cockburn of Ormiston, our justice clerk, Mr Archi-
bald Hope, of Rankeiller; and Sir' William Hamilton of Whitelaw, senators of our col-
lamf justice, Sir James Oglivy our solicitor, and Adam Drammond of “ﬁ“ v
w five shall be a quorum, and granting them power to chuse their own clerk) our

commissioners, to take precoguition and make enquiry into the slaughter aforesaid, by,
whom, and how, and by what colourof authority, the same was committed: And in

order to the discovery of the same, we.fg’i-vp power to the said commissioners to senc
for all warrants and directions, granted for that end; and likewise to examine all per-
shall be found necessary, either upon oath or declaration’; and afterwards the same
commissioners shall transmit to us the true state of the matter
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ofs and 2vidence that shall be brought before then s tha cg%.ag,—-d.e and foll ine
n, 'we may give such G‘whu‘mm thereupon, as to us shall'seem meet and ne-
T testiniony whereof, w conmded«burgrdt nahto he appended to

s A d A ‘*M 15{3;
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Gamatoureourt of”Kensmgton, the 99thdnyt€ A;ml, 1695, ond of our reign
mma' 0 BT LAY tits

oo peitoaviopds StE aiew R oo} :
v W hmhe jim of the htndowrmng of our most serene Lord
the KING.

1o mvf‘.}f‘ e bolngy

oits ,m»mg&ma,mmumm 20th day of May, 1695.

"0»..'03}’ y fen . e
Svah oy iy ' SRR RANNALD, Deputy.
fa wlons 4o a -
e Mﬂﬂﬁnhngb, qup «1695.
‘ --wmmprgm» Wik i : - Jou Dman.

 th !!d of May, 1695. this ommmonmmi in ’parlnment, andthe homa
ne contradicente, That his majesty's high commissioner transmit the humble
of the parliament-to his majesty, for ordomgunnzmrymto that matter, whefeby
e honour and Jnme ge the nation mnghbt :xe muhc:tem -
nilt/being urged that the commission should procee ligence, as bmg a na-
tional concern, and that the discovery be made known to the hgusc before its adjourn-
~ment, his grace assused them, that he doubted not of his maJestys givipg satisfac-
~ tion %o his pulmuntmm point, sndt:hnbeforeﬂ:y
- »The commissioners pmoeeded according to order, and made the followitg report :
uQ!i\_) fnoaalis L4
m‘fibem gwen by his Majesty, for enguiring into the Slaughter of the
5} 45 Wuqf Glm M at Halyrud-House, the 20th Day of June, 1693.
AR J:".k".. e &
éimmﬁ Mdlle, Lord High Chancellor of Seotland; William Farl of
w;, John Lord Murray ; Sir James Stuart, his majesty’s advocame Adam
sof Ormistoun, Lord Justice Clerk ; Sir Archibald Hope of Rankeiller; and
‘Hamilton of Whitelaw, two of the senators of the College of Justice ; Sir
vy, mw. solicitor, and Adam Drummond of Meggins, commission-
5 by his commission under the great seal of the date the
; iry, and to take trial and p nition about the slaughter
W.Woﬁﬂwdmld, and othcrl slenco, in the year 1692, by
M‘ndh MM' nd by ‘Jmtqaded wl:honty, the same was commit~

directions given in that matter ; as also to
therein, with' what witnesses they should find ne<
aﬂ to report to his majesty the true state of
timonies to be adduced before them, as the said
aving met and qualified themselves by taking the
iemﬁurm to the act of parliament, with the oath de
! E:w ven to them, chuse Mr Alexan-
havi ified himself as above,
_ Jtao cdl for g.ll \vmu n.nd 'wﬂa, wnu; all
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of thie whole discovery made by them before his majesty, in’ﬂmﬁw M : ngAnd,

first, of some things that preceded the said slaughter. Secondlw; of the matter of fact,
with the proofs and evidence taken, when, and in what manner, &Wmm:
mittle((li.f h}i)rdly, of the warrants ;,nd directions that either really wm;‘wm,m
tended for the committing it. And, lastly, the commissioners humble opinion of t
tm'; l:tat}: and account off:hnt whole busigess. ; i ﬂp'?nmfmf ’?t'be

e things to be remarked preceding the said slaughter were, That it’s in the
Lairds of Glenco and Auchiml;,riaten, a%\d their followgers, were in the inaun";ec?iz:;lm
rebellion made by some of the Highland clans, under the command first of the Vis-
count of “Dundee, and then of Major-General Buchan, in the years 1689 and 1690.
This is acknowledged by all. But when the Earl of Braidalben' called the heads of
the clans,,and met with them in Auchallader, in July 1691, in order to a cessation, the
deceased Alexander Macdonald of Glenco was there, with Glen ary, Sir John Mac-
lene, and others, and agreed to the cessation, as it is also acknowidged: But the de-
ceased Glenco’s two sons, who were at that time with their father in the town of Auch-
allader, depone, That they heard that the Earl of Braidalbin did, at that time; quarrel
with the deceased Glenco, about some cows that the earl alledged were stolen from his
men by Glenco’s men ; and that though they were not present to hear the words, yet
their father told them of the challenge ; and the two sons, with Ronald Ma d,
indweller in Glenco, and Ronald Macdonald, in Innerriggen, in Glenco, doall deponey
That they heard the deceased Glenco say, that the Earl of Braidalbin, at the meeting
of Auchallader, threatened to do him a mischief, and he feared a mischief from no
man so much as from the Earl of Braidalbin, as their depositions at the letter ‘A;lin
the margin, bears. And Alexander Macdonald, second son to the deceased Glenco,
doth fartheg depone, That he hath often heard from his father and others, that there
had been in former times blood betwixt Braidalbin’s family and their clan, as his de<
position at the same mark bears. And here the commissioners cannot but take notice
of what has occurred to them in two letters from Secrctarﬁftair to Lieutenant-Colo-
nel Hamilton, one of the first, and another of the third of December, 1691, wherein he
expresses his resentment from the marring of the bargain that should have been be-
twixt the Earl of Braidalbin and the Highlanders, to a very great height; charging
some for their despite against him, as if it had been the only hinderance of that: settle-
ment : Whence he goes on in his, of the third of December, to say, That since the go-
vernment caunot oblige them, it is obliged to ruinsome of them to weaken and frighten
the rest, and that the Macdonalds will fall in this net. ‘And, in effect, seems even from
that time, which was almost a month before the expiring of the king’s indemnity, to
project with Lieutenant-Colonel Hamilton, that some of themnbon'ld%lw.xm-m
and destroyed. His majesty’s proclamation of indemnity was: quhsbcd 'm.*Augvus_t,‘ i
1691, offering a free indemnity and pardon to all the Highlanders who had been in
arms, upon their coming in and taking the oath of allegiance betwixt then and the
first of January thereafter : And io compliance with the epno.clamcunl; “the deseued
Glenco goes about the end of December, 1691, to Colonel Hill, go ernorof Port Wil-
liam, at Inverlochie, and desired the colonel to minister to him the oath ﬂm
that he might have the king’s indemuity : But Colonel Hill, in his deposition, ‘miarke
with the letter B, doth farther depone, That he hastened him away ‘“W ‘and
gave him a letter to Ardkinlas to receive him as a lost shcep-;;wﬂihqw nc
Ardkinlas’s answer to that letter, dated the ninth of Jann:;i. gz&mf“‘&“‘m
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akentb bring indll his friends and followers, as the privy council should order; and
inlas fartherawrites, that he was sending to Edinburgh, that Glenco, though he

Had mistaken:in coming te Colonel Hill, to take the oath of allegiance, might yet be
welcome, and that thereafter the ©olonel should take care that Glenco’s friends and
followers may!not suffer, till the king and council’spleasure be known, as the said let-
ter, marked on the back with the letter B, bears ; and Glenco’s two sons, abovenamed,
do depong in the same manner, That their father went.about the end of December to
Colonel Hill; to take the oath of allegiance ; but finding his mistake, and getting the
colonel's:letter to Ardkinlas, he basted to Inverary assoon as he could for the bad way
aud weather ; and did not so much as go to his own house, in his way todnverary,
though he past-within balf'a niile of it, as both their depositions at the letter B bear:
And Mummu,,, , the eldest son, depones farther, at the same mark, That his fa-
ther was taken in his way, by Captain Drummond, at Barkaldin, and detained twenty.
four hours. ;

_8ir Colin Campbell, of Ardkinlas, sheriff-depute of Argyle, depones, That the decea-
sed Glenco came to Inverary about the ':'l:?ng of January, 1692, with a letter from
Colouel Hill to the effect above menti ; and was three days there before Ardkin-
Jas: could get thither; Lecause of bad weather; and that Glenco said to him, that he
had not come sooner, because he was hindered by the storm ; and Ardkinlas farther
depones, That when he declined to give the vath of allegiance to Glenco, because the
last of December, the etimcmuinsed for the taking of it, was past, Glenco begged
with tears that he might be admitted to take it, aﬁpromised 1o bring in all his peo-
ple within a short time to do.the like ; and if any of them refused, they should be im
prisoned -ov sent to-Flanders: Upon which Ardkinlas says, he did administer to him
the oath of allegiance upon the sixth of January, 1692, and sent a certificate thereof
to: Edinburgh, with Colonel Hill's letter to Colin Campbell, sheriff-clerk "of Argyle,
who was then at Edinburgh ; and further wrote to the said Colin, that he should write
back to him, whether Glenco’s taking of the oath was allowed by the council or not,
as Ardkinlas’s deposition at the letter B testifies ; and the said Colin, sheriff-clerk,
dwtl, That the foresaid letters, and the certificate relating to Glenco, with some
other certificates relating to some other persons, all upon one paper, were sent in to
him ‘to Edinburgh by Ardkinlas ; which paper being produced upon oath by Sir Gils
bert Elliot, clerk of the secret council, but rolled and scored, as to Glenco’s part, and
bis taking the oath of allegiance, yet the commissioners found that it was not so de-
lete ordashed, but that it may be read that Glenco did take the oath of allegiance at
Inverary the sixth day of January, 1692 ;' and the said Colin Campbell depones, That
it'came 10 his hand fairly written, and not dashed, and that with this certificate he had
the said letter from Ardkinlas (with Colonel Hill’s above-mentioned letter to Ardkin-
las inclosed) bearing how earnest Glenco was to take the oath of allegiance ; and that

*he had taken it upon the sixth of January, but that Ardkinlas was doubtful if that
the council would receive it, and that the sheriff-clerk did produce before the commis-
puers the foresaid:letter by Colonel Hill to Ardkinlas, dated at Fort William the 31st
y of December, 1691, and bearing that'Glenco had been with him, but slipped some
days « gnorance, yet that it was to bring in a lost sheep at any time, and
d be an adv torender the king’s government easy 5 and with the said she-

rky the Lord Aberuchil, Mr John Campbell, writer 10 the siguet, and Sir Gil-!

_clerk to the council, do.all declare that Glenco’s taking the oath of alle-
ndkinlas's foresaid certificate, as to his part of it, did come to Edinburgh,

em f ‘and not scored or dashed ; but that Sir Gilbert,
IAidea At TNBREY i Kaiies | o 7t e o ORI IR T
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and the other clérk of the council, refused to take it in; because done after thie diy:
appointed by the proclamation:’ Whereupon the said Colin Campbell, 'and Nndgﬁi
Campbell, went; as they depone, to'the Lord Aberuchil, thena: rivy counsellor; and
desired him to take the advice of privy counsellors about it: an accordingly, they af-
firm, that Aberuchil said he had spoke to several privy counsellors, and partly to the
Lord Stair ; and that it was their opinion that the foresaid’ certificate could not:be rex
ceived without a warrant from the king ; and that it would neither be saferto Ards
kinlas, nor profitable to Glenco, to give in the certificate to the clerk of the council
and this the Lord Aberuchil confirms by his deposition, but doth not name theréin the
Lord Stair : AndColin Campbell, the sheriff-clerk, does farther depone, That with the
knowledge of the Lord Aberuchil, Mr John Campbell, and Mr David Monerief, clerk to
the councy), he did, by himself; or his servant, scoreor delete theforesaid certificate, as it
now stands scored, or obliterate, as to Glenco's taking the oath of allegiance, and that he
gave it in so scored or obliterate, to the said Mr David Moncrief, clerk of the council,
who took it in as it is now produced. But it doth not appear, by all these depositions,
that the matter was brought to the councikbeard, that the council’s pleasure might be
known upon it, though it seems to have been intended by Ardkinlas, who both writ
himself, and sent Colonel Hill’s ietter for to make Glenco’s excuse, and desived ex<
pressly to know the council’s pleasure. s doy {

After that Glenco had taken the oath of allegiance, as is said, he went home to his
own house, and, as his own two sons, above-named, ne, he not only lived there.
for some days quietly"and securely, but called his people together, and told them he
had taken the oath of allegiance, and made his peace, and therefore desired and engas
ged them to live peaceably under King William’s government, as the depositions of
the said two sons, who were present, marked with the letter E, bears.

These things having preceded the slaughter, which happened not to be committed
until the thirteenth of February, 1692, six weeks after the deceased Glenco had taken
the oath of allegiance at Inverary. The slaughter of the Glenco-men was in this man-
ner, viz. John and Alexander Macdonalds, sons to the deceased Glenco, ne, That
Glengary's house being reduced, the forces were called back to the south, and Glenlyon;
a captain of the Earl of Argyle’s regiment, with Lieutenant Lindsay and Ensign Lind+
say, and six score soldiers, returned to Glenco about the first of February, 1692, where;
at the entry, the elder brother John met them with about twenty men, and demanded
the reason of their coming; and Lieutenant Lindsay shewed him his orders for quars
tering there, under Colonel Hill’s hand, and gave assurance that they were only come
to quarter; whereupon they were billetted in their country, and had free quarters, and
kind entertainment, living familiarly with the people until the thirteenth day of Fe=
bruary. And Alexander farther depones, That Glen?yon, being his wife’s uncle, came
almost every day and took his morning drink at his house; and’that the very night
hefore the slaughter, Glenlyon did play at cards in his own quarters with both the bro-
thers. And John depones, That old Glenco, his father, had invited Glenlyon, Lieute
nant Lindsay, and Ensign Lindsay, to dine with him upen the very dayithe slaughter
happened. But on the thirteenth day of February, being Saturday, about fout or five
in t,gz morning, Lieutenant Lindsay, with a party of the foresaid soldiers, came to-old:
Glenco’s house, where having called in a friendly manner, and -got in, they shot his
father dead with several shots as he was rising out of his bed; and the mother haviag

up and put on her cloaths, the soldiers stri her naked, and drew the rings off
ﬁ::,,_ﬂngeu'*wim their teeth; as likewise they Killed one man more, and wounded ano-,
ther grie ‘at the same place : And.this relation:they say:they-hadfrom:their mo=
ther; and is confirmed by the deposition of Archibald Macdonald, indweller in Glenco,
who farther depones, that Glenco was shot behind his back with two shots, one throigh
the head, and the other through the body, and two more were killed with him‘in thatt
place, and a third wounded and left for dead: And this he knows, because he came
) T ) i : : o AL
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the! | “killed, and spoke M%Aﬁ;ﬂ%t Was' Wounded, whose
. name ) ‘Den, who came' there occasionally with Jetters from the brae of
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""'The said John Macdonald, eldest son to the deceased Glenco, depotes, The same
mmﬁtg"tﬂl his father was killéd there came soldiers to his house before day, and
called at his'window, which gave him the alarm, and made him go to Innernggen,’
where Glenlyon was quartered, and that he found Glenlyon and his men reparing
their arms, which 'made the deponent ask the cause; but Glenlyon' gave them only
good words, and said they were to march against some of Gléngarie’s men, ant if there
were ill intended, would not he have told Sandy and his niece? meaning the depo-
nent'’s brother and his wife; which made the deponent go home, and go again to his
bed, until his servant, who hindered him to sleep, raised him; and when he rose and
went out, he perceived about twenty men coming towards his house, with their bayo-
nets fixed to their muskets, whereupon he fled to the hill, and having Auchnaion, a
little village in Glenco, in view, he héard the shots wherewith Auchintriaten and four
more were killed ; and that he heard also the shots at Innerriggen, where Glenlyon had
caused to kill nine more, as shall be hereafter declared ; and this is confirmed by the
concurring deposition of Alexander Macdonald his brother, whom a servant waked out
of sleep, saying, It is'no time for you to be sleeping, when they are killing your brother
at 'the door; which-made Alexander to tlee with his brother to the hill, where both of
them heard the foresaid shots at Auchnaion and Tmnerriggen And the said John,
Alexander; and Archibald Macdonalds do all dépone, That the same morning there was
oncSefgam Barber, and a party at Auchnaion, and that Auchintriaten being there in
his bothér’s house, with eight more sitting about the fire, the soldiers discharged upon
thiem ‘about eighteen shot, which killed Auchintriaten and four more; but the other
four, whereof some were wounded, falling down as dead, Serjeant Barber faid hold on
Auchintriaten’s brother, one of the four, and asked him if he were alive? He answered,
that'hewas, and that he desired to die without rather than within: Barber said, that for his
meat that he had eaten, he would do him the favour to kill him without ; but when the
man was bro out, and soldiers brought up to shoot him, he having his plaid loose,
flung it over their faces, and so escaped ; and the other three broke through the back
of the house and escaped; and this account the deponents had from the men that
scaped.  And at Innerriggen, where Glenlyon was quartered, the soldiers took other
nine men, énd did bind them hand and foot, killed them one by one with shot ; and
when Glenlyon inclined to save a young man of about twenty years of age, one Captain
Drummond came and asked how he came to be saved, in respect of the orders that
were given, and shot him dead ; and another young boy of about thirteen years ran to
enlyon to be savéd ; he was likewise shot &Id, and in the same town there was a

bir woman, and a ‘boy about four or five years of age, killed ; and at Auchnaion there was

a child him but the head. There were likewise se-
Ay whereof s an old man about eighty years 6’ ge:
rm, because they heard the

w en that were - "‘ ’ ‘ Mﬂﬂto 1d
“That he being ving with s faher in il
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he' year 1683, when (his
| i5 'snid before, the Imnd%@hver!bnn (m
e command of the army, which was sent to the west ‘cont;
“the dissenting (not without our Scots bish
lﬁmﬂf of the office of baily of the regality of :rxelotdcbnp of Glenluc
to the said Sir John, and the Viscount of Stair his fath
‘Stair (by creation of his father, lord, baron, and peer of the tealm) did
rd Dundee, and beat him off, for whmh he was convened baﬁm
M'cx 3 md fined in 5007, which he paid. 0,
“In theyear 1684, the said master was seized at his own house, when his Tads %
to lie in, and made prisoner, being suspected, it seems, by the thengove' sent,
ve correspondence from Holland, and to have carried on intri against the g
‘vernment ; and being brought to Edinburgh, was carried from the palace of Holyroy
house (w where he was examined by the ministers of state) as a trophy (it seems ° '
grace him) between the common soldiers, along the public streeta, to the common p
son, more than half a mile’s distance ; was kept close prisoner there forseverdl, on
W\hﬂmg for what crime, (but as himself then said) for the original siu of the fa-
ther. At last, after many petitions, he had the favour granted himi by the couneil, to
mer q.:hgfpﬂe prison, where he lay a long time till the goveﬂ:meﬁ
they could not fix a crime upon him, and set him at liberty. 35
e hthe year 1687, there being none of the advocates (but these who were advar
to be lords of the session, for their then zeal and loyalty to the cause in hand,’
be the king's advocate,' the court hoping to gain him to their party, and to wheed
his father over from Holland, made t%c master king’s advocate, (that being the ﬁ&'e
of “the toleration) and during a whole year he continued king's advocate, there was
none prosecuted to death, but one man, upon the score of nomfommy our
m‘ the master’s behaviour in that post that year, i ‘
the dispe "v(f ﬁower and finding him not to be a fit foc
brought in Sir George akhenzie again to be king’s advocate, and
miaster to be justice clerk ; then they found out he was the man uvd
of Ross; in anno 1686, by advising him to appeal from the bishops court to %
ment.
~ Upon the Revolution, the Earl of Perth (then chancellor, fearing m
tion of the enraged mob) takm% his flight, the said master (and some
couneellors) taking care first of keeping things in some order, and
ar as was then in their power) the government in the best hmgll, wen
nee'of Orange, in December, 1688, concurred in makmg the
g on the administration of the government,
ssen member thereof ; was the man chiefly (with
urs ufﬁn late Duke of Hamulwi, Ma




554 Tracts during the Reignof King ‘WWilliam 111,

Jord chigh commissioner) some people, (Who pretended great matters for veligion, liberty;
and property, being displeased, it seems, that they were not advanced Instantly to some -
places of high' dignity and trustin the government) recoiled : And then it was that we
unhappilyturned into parties, which put the subjects in a ferment, made our proceed-
ings uneasy ever since at home, and makes the king’s affairs sometimes to be retarded
bothr here @nd abroad; thus, by our divisions, giving too much encouragement to the
disaffected party. :

In the winter. 1690, the Master of Stair was advanced to be conjunct secretary of
state'with the Earl of Melvil, who, upon the Revolution, was made sole secretary of
state for Scotland, as aforesaid, which he did merit as (formerly) a great sufferer, and
always a true commonwealth’s man.

In the year 1692, Mr James Johnson was made conjunct secretary of state with the
Master of Stair, and the Earl of Melvil sent to Scotland to be lord privy seal: And
as to these three persons they continue in the same stations and offices still.

The Earl of Breadalban, who was formerly called Sir John Campbell of Glenorchy,
an ancient family in the Highlands, a cadet of the family of Argyle, when be mar-
ried the late Earl of Argyle's sister, (countess dowager of the late Earl of Caithness,
who died without issue-male) he the said Sir John was created Earl of Caithness in the
year 1677, or 1678, and brought several debts upon the earldom of Caithness, and
made use of force to possess himself of the estate, which created him enemies ; after-
wards, an heir-male and of tail appearing to the deceased Earl of Caithpess, be the said
Sir John Campbell took a new patent to be Earl of Breadalban. Y

In the year 1677, by order of eouncil, he sent a double regiment of his tenants and
vassals, in conjunction with the Marquis of Athol, Earl of Perth, and several other
noblemen and gentlemen, to the west country (which was then called the Highland
Host) there was a commission of the council sent along with them to try the dissent~
ers; this created the Earl of Breadalban enemies also. Upon the Revolution he stood
out, but ‘being convinced of his error as to the alteration from that of arbitrary and
despotick power, to that of a mild, merciful, and peaceable government, tracing the
true constitution and fundamental laws of the nation, he joined forces, and eftered.his
service to the government, by bringing in of the Highland clans and rebels by fair
ineans, or necessary stratagems, to make the effects answer the end. |

_As for the Glenco men, the truth 1s, kic labor, hoc opus est, to describe them with~
out reflection upon my countrymen, which I would willingly avoid ; but the real truth
is, they were a branch of the M‘Donnels (who were a brave courageous people always)
seated amongst the Campbells, who (I mean Glenco men) are all papists, if they have
any religion ; were always counted a people given to rapine and plunder, (or sorneps
as we call it,) and much of a piece with your highwaymen in Eogland.'  Several go-
veraments designed to bring them to condign punishment, but their purses, it seems,
found them out protectors, and their country was inaccessible to any small parties ;
and though I .dare not approve of the method taken in January and February 1692 by
‘killing them under trust, and in cold blood, yet at the same time they deserved the
dieavy hand of justiee, in a regular.and legal manner, which would have made their
neighbours live in/more peaceand tranquillity. 1do remember when 1 first heard then
Jof./the matter, 1 said to'some great persons, that the best method would be 4o make

. Ahese men prisoners, and send -them abroad to be soldiers, or to the plantations, and
m iﬂ‘hd mﬂo.m.‘., Y i b i u o8 515 Jia00 Auimd et
<. Now! that I-have given you an historical account of these persons in ag.brief teoms
#$ I could to make you understand the men, and the relation of matters afterwards,
1 The definition; if jast, would 'have included the whole Highlanders of that time,

o oL € TR
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1 begin again with the bishop of Galloway, Mr Robertson, and the Lord Viscount
S(lir‘s ﬂfﬁi‘ﬂ v ¥ . 1 17 543

“The Viscount of Stair is by his own, his author’s, and predecessor's charters, ‘herita-
ble baily or judge of the royalty or regality of the lordship of Glenluce, withiw the
bishoprick of Galloway, for which the bishop is obliged, and was constantly in use to
pay him 20l. sterling yearly of fee (or salary) in money or value, besides the perqui-
sites of the court, which is allowed to the deputy always. ‘

The bishop of Galloway died, as was mentioned : The three daughters and their
husbands did contend about proving the will of the deceased, the bishop’s widow be-
ing poor,”and detained from what effects the bishop left, by the contention and te-
dious unnatural law debates of her children : Mr Hugh Dalrymple (the Lord Stair’s
son) being factor for uplifting of his father’s rents, the time of his father’s exile, as
abovesaid, and the viscount himself likewise after his return home, did support her
with money, that she might not starve, during the law-debates ; for which they took
security both from herself and Mr Patrick Smith, her eldest daughter’s husband, to re-
pay them. '

After long and litigious debates, the lords of the session pronounced a* decreet in
favour of Mr Patrick Smith, being found to have the best right, and who supported
the mother by his credit.

This Mr Duncan Robertson, encouraged * by some persons (not well inclined to the
Lord Stair, tode sige) presented a petition to the parliament upon the 3d day of June
last, complaiping that the said viscount had pronounced an unjust sentence against
him. It would be needless, and not to your purpose, to repeat all thesaid complaint,
and the great and long debates followed thereupon, so I only give you the substince,
and the most material points in the complaint ; wiz. that the president, in the debate
betwixt the said Robertson and Mr Patrick Smith, should have done injustice by ma-
king up himself (or by his influence) a debate, or minutes and interloquitor sub-
joined thereto, upon the 29th of July, 1692, and signed the same privately in the va-
cation.

9. That after there was a decree pronounced in favour of Mr Smith against Mr Ro-
bertson (against which decree Mr Robertson gave in a bill of suspension) upon which
bill the clerk of the bills refused to write a * sis¢, by the president’s order, thereby stop-

ing the ordinary course of the law. )

8. That the president transacted, during the dependence of the plea with Mr Smith,
as executor to the bishop, for a debt due by the president to the late bishop,* and had
an$ ease from Mr Patrick of the debt, and took allowance of 20l. sterling of baily ;
fee, which the bishop would never have paid.

The answer made to the first was, that if Mr Robertson, or any other, could prove
against the president, that he did sign any interloguitor or debates privately, but what
was the meaning of the rest of the dords ¢ in prasentia, as well as his own opinion, he
were most unjustifiable ; but nothing at all thereof was proved : On the contrary, one
Smith, a witness? adduced by Robertson himself, deposed, that the king’s advocate did
dictate them, who is a man of great honour and integrity, and owned the same. The
clerk 'alse deposed the same; and Mr John Frank, Robertson’s own advocate, depo-
sed, that the point mentioned in these minutes was stated by the president, which
should have beenodebated; Mr Robertson’s advocates declined to debate, and Mr
Patrick Smith craving a deereet, and that the same was pronounced in Mr Frank's
‘own heaving and others, so not done privately. . Two of the lords of session, Haleraig
< Ly s W o S ' 11 hass eyl 4 12 4 4

* A decree. 2 Sic stetst sententia,
5 A sist 1s a stop of execution of a decree by a judge for a certain limited time,
4 Lord Stair paid tithes to the bishop. 5 An abatement.

¢ In presence ofy aud by the unanimous consent of all the lords. 7 Produced.—0Orig. Notes.
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Qe g 4nd: of these lo o—

*‘3’&%3“1&” '
! tioned in the mihutes, which- ra Wm
Ived.  Atid it is further cleared (the dforesaid mem
ﬁdﬁ mmmmhe lords) by udboo@mt‘axm mq.w
the first of Febrdty
-~ ﬂw swered to the second, that the clerk of the hhs. James Nicdhou, M«s
n the bl" of suspension, because Mr Robertson was
“after twdbmeu in foro, he offered a third bill, and Mr Patrick Smith
cldt!an or -nrety to relieve MrDuncan Robertson and his wife of aty process

}ﬁo“ t them, &s executors to the bishop (which was the pretence
or of his last bill of suspensmn) and all the lords rejected the bill, ang dischar-

fged the clerk of the {nlla to receive any other bill of suspension from Mr Robertson,

upon obedience, he having refused to debate before ; which deliverance was

sbewn and duly intimated to the clerk of the bills, which is his warrant : And- that

the pteudcn‘t never spoke directly not indirectly to him about the same. The Lord

Aberuchil, also ordinary, demed ‘that the clerk did refuse to write & sist by reason of
thp said deliverance of the in presentia.

It was answered to the third, that, as was said before, Mr Hugh Dalrytnple, by his
father's orders (when in exﬂe) and the*pr!hdent himself when he came home, advan-
m m to the bis widow, to save her from stamnﬁl_dumg the depend-

y'o ﬁm they took ‘bond, to be repaid as aforesmd, which was a

1 m ' in'omnem coentun, without any dependence upon the event of that

_ plu, , hv ¢t ’Fﬂ'ﬂmugh Mr Robertson’s title had been just, and sustained by the lords,
: 's security was good beyond exception. o

"I‘ the widow was provided to a considerable' life-rent by her husband,

was a 'deht undeniably preferable to the interest of either party, Smith or Ro-

amf the advancement to her being less ‘than her provision, the president

could have mo bias that way ; besides that Mr Patrick Smith also had an unques-

tionable interest in the dead’s part, and' the degitim, -and had acquired the interest of a

third sister, as Mr Robertson’s own bill to the parliament doth acknowledge. So there

was .hnld\‘d to, or injastice in the president, though he had advanced more to Mr

rick, or the mdow, whtch he mever did, and made no other trauuotwn, Mu

Aud*gs to the other mmberﬂf that allegation, that the president got an ease fm
m : Smitheof the debt due by him to the bishop,

wis answered, That it was a very false allegation : For by the duchnrgc nghd
to the Mt, Gt wiﬂ‘appcu, that the several and particular sums pmd. are instructed
¢ he b, ldeat himself, or Mr Hugh Dalrymple 1@ his.absence ; that
the ﬂ "bg it, mor was the president conce t M:Dua-

zains Wum seeing the prcuden\ Was not
w Mg right to his estate, but what was traly
oF K”H};

sh h have taken an nlbwmwofﬂm Mﬂaw
Fnsiden owns hebdld take the same, and i
amio 1560. And by another chaster under the great
ing an heritable oﬁnu-ﬂmﬁvy, audwfwhﬂw
iest of thc*ﬁmhud emoluments

GR e "’HI}%J’!

l'ot.m ..... ! bies 10T -.a;p'.lm,.‘;'a L‘n ‘..75”
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wmgmmmugmmaw the p i
receive'an allowangce of 20/, sterling, he exacted qommt.lm& '
right; was instructed: by his charters,: so.the use of pe memw eared b
agreements, one with Dishop Hamilten, anno 1666, w eded Hishop. #
T R L
a sterling yearly. ! t oints before t i Atw

moved, That the affair should be committed to a ccfmmittee, chosen for that pwt’:m
cases but it was carried by plurality of voices, That it should be committed to the come
mittee of safety, who.were appointed to give their report thereof in open parliament
upon thertenth day of the said month of June. the committee having accord-
ingly examined many witnesses upon the most material articles of the complaint, viz.
The alledged injustice of the sentence, nothing was proved, as I can see, against the
Viscount of Stair by Robertson ; on the contrary, it was proved by the depositions of
the lords of session, Mr Robertson’s own advocate, and several other evidences, as
abovesaid, that the president’s. transactions were fair, and the sentence just; so.that
MrRobertson did not think it advisable {@ insist upon the other articles of the coms-
plaint. - Upon the-tenth of June it was moved, 1 hear, in behalf of the lord president,
That the parliament would call for the report of the committee, and either declare. the
president guilty, or, if nothing of the compraint should be proved against him, that they
would acquit the lord president, and appoint a suitable punishihent upon the libeller
for.s0 impudent. 4 caluimny ; but the motion was not favoured, there being matters, of
greater imporfanee™m hand. However, the president’s friends say, they are glad that
(even.now ihis loidship’s absence) there are no greater matters of complaink or ac-
cusation found against him thiough the whole course of his-ife, being sufficiently yin-
dicated of bis accusation by these and other gmunds represented, judging, there is
enongh known (and will be justified by all good unbiassed men) of hus long service in
the public,-integrity of life, firmuess of principles, his and his family’s sufferings.in

dubious and dangereus times, and dutiful adherence to his majesty’s interest, before
and singe the late happy. Revolution: And that they do confidently hope that his ma-
. jesty’s lugh commissioner, and the honeurable estates of parliament, will some time ot
“ather find:the justice of the nation interested to see the laws and acts of parliament for
SeQUE g, Mmamiainpg, and defending the honour and reputation of judges (who.do
geprescab bis majesty's personand hisauthority) fully and effectually executed by theex-
emplary punishment of the malicious libeller, so as judges in all time coming may. be
denced and seeured from such bold and insolent attempts. And ugon the matter,
the president’s friends say further, that he lost 1004 stetling by these transactions.con-
gerning the bishop’s affair, which he never “ffm again; so that, according to the
| Wise man's saying, As it is a hard matter to be oth popular and Just, so-to stike aud
w»w;mt. for he is invuluerable, and not hurt who is struck.

<11 A8 for b i of the indiciment against the Earl of liret'aladalb:n,k i aofaras I
‘lgaan, the matteris thus: Thatthe cail, anno 1691, promised to the king toreclaim
x"ﬁ'ﬁwgmw relsels, which way he did.it is in public now; but Mac Donoel 05383:;“-
y (who is the most sensible and of greatest probity amongst, them) came, in, and
;gm bgtere. the parliament, That the earl did, by articles agreed qponm ixt him
amd them, engage, that if King William could not condescend 10 such and sucharticles,
. be, the said earl, should with all bis friends and followess, join the Ww T
»eemmence & process of high treason against his lordship, and: that he in the meay time
..nwt%enmmmhﬁcuz:m_ dipbuzgh. Agp;'crwplﬂ <.f§h;
s at he might bave time 104 YN ARSWEE DEIONG AMPEACAMET W )
q“dnmmm m%gzmnot he w.mﬂnfgntappw to the parliament there.
was no glm for the imﬂwn.uu (34 ﬁ
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Y um-vpm ‘the #arl, That Glengary, mot being sumttiroried by a
inas a mbew;gmt ‘him, and apecully'mndeihrg that he Nvﬂﬁ?&:ﬁ
catholic, bad been in rebellion against the king, and never knew hé Had siibtitred to
the government, uihless dotfe privately at this time; and carrying ‘ah inveterate mz
toehmoab’c family, he hoped the whament would ot found apmssmﬁhlgh t
against him npon his deposition: - These arguments did not prevail. Sk
- Jt s further by the euri ‘That he had an ample conmmission from the king
to'do im thataffair all that he should think fit for effectuating his design : That as well
his majesty as all the world knew that in such negociations there must be allowances
for men commissioned to'go, orat least pretended to go, great lengths, and t6 yield t&
such condescendencies as they find ‘most taking for acccomplishing the design. That
the effect and consequence had justified the methods he bad taken. That.not only
they there sitting, and their constituents at home, who suffered most in ‘that unnati-
ral and cruel war, but also the kingdom of England (who for its own safety was obligéd
to maintain some regiments here in Scetland) yea, and all the confederacy had reaped
advantage by his conduct in that treaty, magy troops and much money being now em-
ployed against the common ‘enemy abroad; which that troublesome war had exhausted
for several years here at home. That seeing the thing itself was good and advantage-
ous for the nation, he wondered persons should take exception against the particular
méthods which in prudence he was obliged to take in carrying it on; however, that he
had made it known to their majesties, whatever he had said or donc inthat affair, and
had stheir approbation since.
it was alledged that things mow libelled were not then known. Tt was answered,
thb uma complaint given against the earl for these very things he'is now aceused
‘recommended to the privy-council here to make enquiry into the mat-
'was done accordingly, -and transmitted to the king ; that the minutes of
o.ni:muld clearly shew the same, and desired that the minutes might be called for,
but:sthe parhiament did not think fit to call for them. The Earl of Melvil, then secre-
tary of state, and now lord privy-seal, 'lis said, rose up, and avouched the truth of what
had been said, and asserted, that the precognition taken by the council, was upona
complaint (if not in the same words, yet at least to same purpose) with what was cen-
tained-in Glengary’s depositions, was sent by the council to him, as secretary of state
them ; that he shewed it to the queen (the king being then in Flanders) who kept ita
whole might by her; that the next day he transmitted it to the king, who (he knew by
the returns be got from Flanders) received and perused it. The Duke of Queensberry
did declare hkawue, that it consisted with his knowledge that ins majesty received the
same, he being then in Flanders with the king, and heard his majeuy s discoune of the
matter very often. '
ﬁrm this some person moved, That seeing his majesty had taken theearl’s bchawour ;
consideration, and had been informed of all the methods of his proceedings
in/the matter, and had shewn a satisfaction with the earl’s conduct, by preferring biny-
uﬂm time to several places of honour and trust, the parliament wolild pleaw not to
in an affair of such importance against one of his majesty’s ministers of state,
W&m wBut this being refused; it was desired in:behalf>
sproceedings at least uutil the next meeting ; but/it was'
Wﬂuﬂﬁ advocate proceeded immediately .f;’:t him 'anda
ummum for committing him to the castle, w
was carried smmediatcly mising of the parliament,. mbeah-aaadvmww
M he was ordered to give in his answer thereto by the:
m J {um. mu U‘d;’theﬁ:;x‘:unt ;be earlm an exculpation, which was
to pon adjournin ie parlhiament seventh df‘NWlhber ﬁ&‘;,
the prosecution of the earl is delayed till thnt T bt Coig cond e
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-« As for the.matter of- the Glencomen, which made so much ade, we are something
in the:darkias yet, nor will I meddle to speak, much less to- ite; of any peint the
: oewt e ¥ pat pac~
liament have voted, only the historical part of that matteris this: = bord il .
.+ That when the Earl of Breadalban:did undertake to cause the Highlanders: to
down their arms, give over hostility, and to give passive obedience to the present igo-
vernment, by taking of the oaths (which was very weil done, whoem;di:;it):htﬁs:m
they laid down their arms, there were two or three indemnities issued forth by his ma-
Jesty, encouraging. them to come in ; and they did come all in by the prefixed diet r
m the last indemnity, except the Glenco men, who it seems, finding themselves with-
out help*or support by the other chieftains and clans coming in, old Mac Kean of
Glenco himself only (as I am informed, as ad aram ultimam) went to, and prevailed
with Campbell of Ardkinglass, sheriff-deputy of Argyleshire (a very worthy honest
gentleman, and formerly a great sufferer) six days after the diet was elapsed, who re-
ceived him, and Mac Kean took the oaths ; though at the same time it was, and is:still
the opinion of many good men, that to confide in these men, or to bring them to.con«
formity to the government, were Penelopg’s telam texere, i
«Nor did the taking of the oaths after I;ﬁe-dietz prefixt was elapsed, save or protect
them or him from the lash of the law (not baving come in in the terms of the law)the
mercy tendered in the indemnity being conditional, in case they came in, and submite
ted before, or upon such a day : but wasa ground for mercy and mollification of the
rigour of theJaw, sypposing him or them to have taken the oaths bono animo, and upon
true repentante. [*tlo not hear the rest of his followers came in, and took the oaths,
judging, it’s like, he and they were safe by his only taking of the oaths, though pas¢
meridiem diet, The court (it seems) not knowing of these transactions at a great dis+
tance of foyr or five hundred miles (and being informed by all hands that they were
nests of thieves and robbers) his majesty, after refusal of many ofiered mercies, sent to
treat them as enemies and rebels : Yet at the same time his majesty, by his instrues
tions, as 1 am informed, left room for mercy to them, according to discretion, and cir«
cumstances of time and affairs, which is all could be expected in reason from his m
Qﬁt . " Ji
' 'lﬁlc Master of Stair, Secretary of State, writ letters, it seems, likewise at the same
time to the government, or officers of the army there, much to the same purpose; but
(w's said) i severer terms, and exceeding his majesty’s instructions, to treat them like
the men they were represented.  What may be in this we know not, not having seen
the master’s letters ; but many wish that they and all the instructions relating to that
matter of the Glenco men, had been printed, to undeceive the generality of good-men,
who speak as they affect, but could make no true judgment of the matter, as it then
stood, only this, that the parliament has been very zealous to discover. at whose doer
the faylt, 10 killng the Glenco men, hes. That they were kx!led i cold blood, and un-
der teust,” judging themselves secure and safe (with their thirteen days guestsior-lod-
gers) is undeniable. - But in fine, the parliament; as you have it in publick, finds that
his majesty’s orders. and. instouctions had mercy in gr@mio, o tﬁ% it cannot lodge
these, and God forbid it should.  They have likewise voted Sir Thomas: Livi
commander in chief of his majesty’s forces in Scotland (who sent the orders to: Colouel
Hill, gowernor of Fort William, and ‘Hamilton, his lieutenant-colonel) elear of! ity as
also. Colonel Hill,,have summoned Lieutenant-Colonel Hamilton to appear befare them,
tg amswer coucerning the said matter ; and upon further serutiny, where the said mur.
der will fix, L know nat (grammatici certant, et adhuc subjudice:bis est) for 'the com~
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ﬁ,mmwnmm it wuhnzedfmthzgomm

att .qpmﬂhum should be killed in eold blood ; and that he

| that any of the Glenco men had takerr the oaths, (either before or
he writ these letters, being at court four or five hundred miles diss
M&lmnmm the men, whe had the trust of the execution of the mat
ter upon the spot, had acquainted the court, or our government, of these unhappy men’s
then circumstances, before they went so far on, in which case I doubt whether any of
them bad been killed or murdered, and consequently no.reflection had been ‘upon any
part of the government, or any ever mentioned in the affair. It's an old uymg, That
the counsels of wise men are certain, but events uncertain.

. As for my own part, I know nothing of it, but God in heaven, and the ‘master of
ﬂnrhimulf knoweth best if he be guilty ofa designed murder of these men, or any
others: Neor will 1. argue about any point, such a wise, loyal parliament have voted or
found, But this I may say, that 1 do not understand where the master of Stair’s in-
terest lay to destroy the Glenco men; for if hebeany ways suspected to be a Jacobite,
it was not his interest upon that score to-destroy them by any means, of all men in
Scotland, their religion and blind zeal bending them then altogether that way, what-
ever new light these who are living of themhave found of late, and if be be thought to
be a chwrch of England man, though-that be against our present constitution, yet no
manin his right wits will call it a crime. = These men were not 7§ terians, to 'be
destroyed upon that score ;. nor.do L thiuk any man would be so mad 48 to bribe him
nwthpmbyudmaw without. the hand of justice going along with it. Some
good-natared people may say, out.of good-will to the master, that they were idle men,

thieves, et telluris inutile pondus ; granting ull that, yetastatesman's hm
was, to make their young men soldiers, or 1o send them to the plantations, which had
been to good purpose ut a man of his trust, capacity, and reason, to be accessory
to their destruction in cold blood, is ummuntn.bk if he were really guilty; and be-
ing the honourable parliament has found that slaughter a murder, (as no doubt it was)
in the manner it was done, and that the master exceeded his majesty’s instructions, it
W a very pemnmt question to ask, What under God’s heavens was the 'master’s

‘matler? I can imagine none. There was an information printed
and mu you

heard formerly) by Commissary Dalrympie (hearing that biis bro-
ther, the master of Suur, and his letters were made mention of in the commission

pointed for examining the Glenco business) in vindication of his brother’s behaw:sr.
and conduct, as secretary of state, in the said affair; representing, that if people did
construct some paragraphs, sentences, or periods, of his brother's letters so and so,
without connection of other sentences, &c. without hearing (in his own absence) they
did not'know what to say of it.  But-if one sentence, &c. were connected with others,
nm boss he. commentaries the Peov-b nughtputymmmm
i

t)ton, hlvedechred
gone since hear, to wait

-ni. 4’&. Seneca, “ That the best'way to help every t is b fmnwﬂwud
where there is a maﬂowutbmbvwabhmdm’-x‘@ Agpradk




upon his majesty. “The parliament have likewise made an address to the king, to send
persons home, who may be found guilty, to be prosecuted for.the said murder, or not,
ﬂgnmm‘hiﬂ'hﬁt. ' o wireEn 98 W Ahuw
ir, this parliament have done great things for his majesty’s service, and m
the publick : For though there might have been mmemunﬂérmdi 1gs betwee
some of the members, yet all concurred unanimously to serve the king and the coun-

try. You know what was said concerning the nation and commonwealth of the Ho-
mans : : ,

‘ Tante molis erat, Romanam condere gentem.

For great matters take up much time to effectuate the ends proposed; so as we have
had good beginnings, good proceedings, hopes all our matters will end well; for
though the almost desperate and uneasy’Jacobites (who but fish in muddy waters)
should vaunt upon the occasion of some accidents, (as to see some honest, well-mean-
ing men differ only in points of epinion,)ghey being a people soon eievated to castles
of the air, and soon cast down to the dust, yet all the bustie they make comes to no-
thing at last, but exposes themselves the more to folly. And I am very apt to believe,
that all our seeming differences would vanish upon the sight of our most gracious
king’s presence, upon his throne in our parliament; so will conclude with a great mo-
ralist’s saying, or tothis purpose, That by the two blessings of reason and union, we
might secure aad defend ourselves against the violence of fortune; sense and reason
we have enough, and what is wanting of the latter, the defeat of Lewis Le Grand, and
our most gracious king’s (I mean King William's) presence once here in our parlia-
ment, would, I am certain, effectuate. I long to see his majesty here. Vale, et bene
valeat et vivat Rex noster Gulielmus,

A true Account of the Preservation of the Regalia of Scotland, iz Crown, Sword, and
Sceptre, from falling into the Hands of the English Usurpers, by 8ir George Ogilvie
qu%na:, Knight and Baronet ; with the Blazon of that Family.

Edinburgh, Printed in the Year 1701.

i ' authentic narrative. The distribution of rewards among those who saved lhe

e c:lil'?c.od.:?xd was curious. The Honourable John Keith, who had no ﬁrﬂie)orconoemmh

‘ ﬁ' matier, than being son of the Earl Marischal, to whom Dunnotar c«m be .g:\. a

pension and easldom.  Six George Oﬁih:ie, by whom the castle was really mdi‘ ”hjwtbc

@ barotiet ; and the loyal minister of Kinneff and his wife, whose. bones were slocated i

torture, and who actually concealed the regalia, are generally said to haye got nﬂw at all
The tract, howevér, meutions some pecunial reward. st of

B
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sjatbw oohbnod od boines bas deipsd sul vd osidsl esw 19329010W Yo slisal sis s
Atchicoement of Sir' George Ogilvie of Barras, Knight nd Baronet, some timé Go-
1"0 . % 75”17&? C'mtéquunmtto#, and Pmmerqf‘me ’Regd'mr

A regent, ‘alion passant, guardant, gules, crowned with an irﬁﬁéria‘l crown, holding
in his 3 exter paw, in pale, a sword, hilted and pomelled or, in the dexter chief point
a thistle proper, ensigned with a crown of the last, and in the sinister the badge of
Nova Scotia, as a kmght baronet ; which shield is timbered with helmet and chache-
ments befitting his degree, on a wreath of his tinctures, for crest a demi-man armed
at all points, pointing forth his right-hand towards the motto on the escrol, Praclarum
Regi et R Servitium ; which blazon is thus matriculate 27th of December, 1678.

‘This family carries the lion passant, guardant, for the paternal coat of Ogilvie, the
sword, crown, and thistle, as additional ﬁgures of honour granted to him by authority,
for special and eminent service done to his 'king and country, in preserving the ho-
nours of Scotland from falling into the hands of the English (intimate by his mottc,
Praclarum Regi et Regno Servitium) as is ¢vident from the following account instruct-
ed by principal papers and evidents. For ’tis more satisfactory to man to know the
truth of things as they really were designed and acted from the testimony of original
papers and documents, than from the allegations and bare assertions of pretenders,
without proof or instruction. ' .

‘When the rebels in Britain under Oliver Cromwell the usurper, had 1riumphed over
the best of men and justest of Kings, Charles the First, and tgosc that persisted in
their Toyalty to him in these lamentable times of confusion, the regalia or honours of
Scotland were delivered to the custody of the Earl Marischal, and were todged in the
strong castle of Dunnottor, within the shire of Mearns, as a place of greatest security
and distance from the enemy. ) |
_The said earl being obliged to be in the fields to defend his kin% and country Again'st
the usurper, he made choice of George Ogilvie of Barras, as the fittest man for his
valour, prudence, and loyalty, to entrust the keeping of the said castle of Dunnottor,
with the honours, viz. the crown, sceptre, and sword, and other monuments of the
kingdom therein, makes him his lieutenant, and gives him the commission following :

% Forasmuch as the king’s majesty and committee of estates have entrusted the care
and keeping of the house and castle of Dunnottor to us William Earl Marischal, and
have allowed forty men, a lieutenant, and two serjeants, to be entertained within it up-
on the public cbar‘ge: Therefore we do hereby nominate George Ogilvie of Barras to
be our lieutenant for keeping of the said house and castle, and give unto him the sole
and full power of the command thereof, and of the men that are to be entertained
therein, for keeping thereof under us, with power to him to bruick, enjoy, and kee
the" “3 place, with all fees, dues, and allowances belonging thereto, as fully, in all
_Tespects, as any other lieutenant in such a case may do. In witness whereof, we have

il these prescuts i Slng, the ighths day of July, 1681,
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after the battle of Worcester, was taken by the English, and carried to London, where

he was detained prisoner in the Tower for a long time. W2 %0 ¥ttt
George Ogilvie of Barras b‘eipﬁg sole keeper of the honours, and governot of the said

castle, which he found not sufficiently provided with men, ammunition, and other

provisions, to hold out against a long siege, as the king had ordered, acquaints John
Campbell Earl of Loudon, then chancellor, who returned him the followi?:g muf'\ive??

Sir,

Your letter of the last of October came to my hands the gth of November instant,’
and the paliament being appointed to meet here upon the 12th day, I staid the bearer,

in expectation that I might return you the parliament’sanswer and orders ;

but the par-
. - - . . .’ .
liament not having met, and there being no meeting of the committee of estates, 1 can

give you 1o positive advice nor order: But I conceive that the trust committed to you,
and the safe custody of these things unden your charge, did require that provisions, a
competent number of honest stout soldiers, and other necessaries, should have been
provided and put in the castle, before you y'ad been in any hazard; and if you be in.a
geood condition, or that you can supply yourself with all necessaries, and that the place
tenable against all attempts of the enemy, I doubt not but you will hold out: But
if you want provisions, soldiers, and ammunition, and cannot hold out against all the
assaults of the enemy, which 1s feared you cannot do, if hard put to it, I know no bet-
ter expedient than that the honours be .:;]peedily and safely transported to some remote
and strong ¢@le in-the Highlands; and 1 wish you bad delivered them to the Lord
Dalcarras, as'was desired by the committee of estates, nor do I know any better way
for the preservation of these things, and your exoneration. Aund it will be an irrepa-
rable loss and shume, if these things shall be taken by the enemy, and very dishonour-
able for youtself. Ihave here retained your letter to the Lord Balcarras, hearing he is
still in the north, and net to come to this country. I have written to Sir John Smith,
to furnish you the remainder of the victuals you wrote he should have Ig(llyen you: Ifhe
be in the north you will send it to him, and if he be gone home to Edinburgh, T can-
not help it, So having given you the best advice I can at present, I trust you will,
with all care and faithfulness, be answerabl;: according to the trust committed to you,
shall continue your assured and real friend,
b ¥ Sic subscribitur, Loupon, Cancel.
Dated at Finlarge, 13th November. _
Directed thus: “For my much respected Friend,
George Ogilvie, Governor of Dunnottor.”

overnor, George Ogilvie, being disappointed of sufficient force and provisions
t.o{lc])ledgout a long sicge. axi,d observing the advances the English-made daily in redu-
cing the nation, was exceedingly perplexed, how to prevent the enemies (fet_tmg the
homours of this kingdom in their hands, he advises with his wife (a lady of great
prudence and undaunied courage) she therefore forms a very bhappy contrivance, %:t
she should convey the honours privately out of the castle, and seeure them without
her cpband’s\ knowledge, that wﬂen he should be put to it, and tortured by the _et;e-
my}h might freely declare be knew not where they were,  In ogder.t,hgyem_h)u a-
dy ’lenda for Mr James Granger, minister of Kinneff, }Jgs wife, in yv‘hqm ghe _{peft
confidence, and imparts to her the design ; she promising to be fmx,hﬂ:k, thpx pﬁrg ,tg y
carried the honours out of the said castle to Mr James Granger the minister’ (the other

ithi : inneff; and the manner
trpstee) and put them under ground within the church of Kinneff; and nne
o £hE hamours e runeporcdfrom W sl NG, W 0 ¢ SV an'
ack, in & sack amongst hards of lint. il
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. AGeorge Ogilvie, the governor, not being able to hold out thecastle against so power-

ful an g‘zmnmm.beﬁe@e‘ bim so close, and expecting no .rel% and all ‘other
forts and castles in'the kin being in the enemy’s possession, enters into capituia-
-tion with Colonel Thomas Mergan, and surrenders on honourable terms, the garrison
being! itted 1o march.out of the said castle with drums beating-and colours flying,
which were carvied by the present Sir William Ogilvie of Barras, son to the said -

tain GGeorge (who was the last person who carried colours at that time in Scotland for
the king) and oneof the aricles of capitulation being to deliver up the honours (for
the English were certainly informed they were in the castle) or give a rational account
of them : These are the very words of capitulation, which the present Sir William (the
said Captain George his son) hath in bis custody.

- -After the surrender, the English demanded the honours, or an account of them. The
governor declared, he knew not where they were, for his wife had privately taken
them away without acquainting him ; upow which he was put into close prison in the
said castle ; his lady being examined and threatened with torture, she boldly affirmed,
by way of evasion for her own safety, that she had delivered the honours to John
Keith, now Earl of Kintore, who carried them abroad to the king. But the English
distrusting her, put her in close prison also, and sent out a party to the house of Bar-
ras, to apprehend the said Sir William Ogilvie, their only son and child, that they
might torture him in sight of his parents, tn extort a confession from them ; but he by
providence made a timely escape; and underwent much toil and fatigue, by travelling
night and day, till he came to his friends in Angus, where he remained wicognito,

.« After the said Captain (mﬁe and -his lady had been close prisoners for a year, in
whioh time they s«gemd much inbuman usage, by the eruelty of the English, who
caused a-centinel to stand at the prison door, and another at the prisoners bed-side, that
they should-not commune about the honours: Aud after all, the said Captain George
and hisdady adhering to their former declarations, that the honours were carried abroad
by the now Earl of Kintore, had such an appearance of truth, that upon mediation of
friends, Major-General Dean was prevailed upon to grant them liberty to go to their
own house of Barras, upon such conditions as here follows, couform to the principal
warrant.

»** Whereas in the capitulation made uzon the surrender of the castle of Dunnottor,
between Colonel Thomas Morgan and Captain George Ogilvie the then governor, it
awas among other things agreei that the said Captain George Ogilvie should deliver
up the crown, sword, and sceptee, of the late King of Scots, which were in his custody,
©r giye agood account thereol: Andforasmuch as I have caused the said Captain Ogil-
wie ever since that time to be retained a prisoner in the said castle, for not delivering
the said crown, sword, and sceptre, or giving a good account thereof : Now in regard
hie makes divers pretences that the said crown, sword, and sceptre were taken away
«out of Dunnottor without his knowledge ; and, lastly, that his wile conveyed the same
10-a gentleman that carried them to foreign parts; 1 am willing that in case he shall
recure good vityof 2000 or 1500/ sterling, that be shall render himself a true pri-

B, Pt Tostondete o tRot s e Holl 4o-the Tkn, Dot e s

~castle unto his own house, being seated within four miles of the
the do not at all go from the house above three miles ; and I do hergby

Lof him as said is, for lis and his wife’s forth-

the iberty abovementioued, for which this shall

: fury
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Upotr tiis wiirrant, "Captain George and his lady were sot at dibie ) atid Sir
Grahathe of Morphie becaine mti;igxev for them, {s by the fomwm?bmfﬁt flo ben
“ 1 'Whereas ‘the right honourablée Major General Richard Dean hath issaed an order
unto Captain’ John Gamor; néw governor of Dunnottor, that he grants ‘liberty to
Ckp{t_a’iﬁvv yeorge Ogilvie, togetheér with his wife (they being both prisoners in thesaid
garrison) to repair to their dwelling hotise, providing they give sufficient secuitity that
they depart not above three miles from Barras, being their habitation; and that
or either of them act nothing that is, or may be, prejudicial to the ‘parliament of the
commonwealth of England ; and likewise on advertisement or warning given, they pre-
sent thenfselves troe prisoners at Dumnottor castle, to the governor thereof, or his de-
pute; and that the said Captain Ogilvie and his wife shall perform the abovesaid articles,
T whose name is underwritten, do bind myself, my heirs, executors, and administrators,
under the penalty and forfaulture of 20007 of lawful current English money, in case of
failzyng to present, enter again, and make forthcoming the said prisoners, when the
goveritor shall send for them : In witness thereof, 1 have hereunto put my hand and
seal the 10th of January, 1652. Sic subribitur,

Sir Ropert Graname of Morphie.
Testes, Rrcn. Huckes, JouN TurNER.”

Some~ime af‘tcgﬁhis, the said Captain George and his lady were necessitate and en-
forced, by thg rigidity and strietness of the English, to find security of new, as the
following bopd detli evince -

“* Whereas, upon solicitation for Capt. George Ogilvie and his wife's farther enlarge-
ment, the honourable Colonel Lisburn, commander in chief of all the forces in Scotland,
hath ordered Captain Garnor of Dunnottor castle, upon security given, to give them
six weeks'time to'go about their lawful affairs ; 1 do therefore engage myself, my heirs,
executors, administrators, assigns, in the sum of five hundred pounds ofy;ood and law-
ful English money, for their personal appearance into the former obligation of confine-
ment, ‘six weeks after the date hereof. In witness hereof, I have put my hand and
seal the 1st of February, 1658, Sic subseribitur,

JAaMmES ANDERSON.
Attested by Joun Barkrry, Ricuarp HuekEes.”

Under this restraint Captain Ogilvie’s lady died, and he remained therein till the
restoration of King Charles Il. and all that time he bhad a sppc_ial care of ‘?he bonouru,
by sending monthly clean linen to Mr James Granger _the minister, and his wife, with-
instructions to take out of the ground and wrap them in the same, lest they should be
spoiled or tarnished, which the minister of Kinneff and his wife punctually observed,
and ‘were faithful in their secrecy, till the king’s restoration (for which they got a pe-
cunial reward) and then delivered them to the said Captai.n George, who,. a_ooordmg'tp
the king's order, did deliver them to the Farl Marischal in as good condition as he‘at
first received them, as is evident by the following receipt, which will demonstratively
and dndeniably prove, that the aforesaid Captain George and his lady were thie prin-
cipal'keepers and preservers of the honours of Scotland (whatever others pretend) and
the'only sufferers therefore; which honourable piece of serviee; so faithfully performed,
should never be for%ot ‘bi king ‘'or ‘country, ‘in saving the honours, which :

the k

oth the disgrace o in ,‘and ‘the irreparable loss oﬁou;;mgkm;m.m
‘bmﬂhuttteotﬂm&%gbf this noble and good service done by the said Captain Geo
and his lady, yet at King Charles the Second’s restoration, the then old countess ma-
rischal wrote to his majesty, that her son John.?}geig&;gggv Earl of Kintore U&ybq was

Kintore {
then abroad his travels, and knew nothing of the matter) bad preseryed the ho-
nours, bcingu mtl tl:: sz:i’céa;tnain George hadguzfvarﬂy lmpanm the said cmuteu
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where they. were hid, and how that by the contrivance of s wife, in affirming that
she had dehwred them, to the said John Keith, they had saved themselves, cons
cealed the honours from thc English; and his majesty knowing nothing of Captain
George Ogilvie and his hd s-special service in preserving of ‘the honours (in respect
they did not unel ) , upon the said countess her misrepresentation, create her
said son first ng amchal of Soothnd and then Earl.of Kintore, and ordered him
a'pension of 400/ sterling a year, which he enjoyed all Kin dg Charles the Second'’s life-
time, and is as yet continued to him with the said place an dngnity, for his pretended
preservation of the honours.
(zun George Ogilvie, then in the mean time in Scotland, being informed that
resaid countess md others had misrepresented to his majesty his faithful service
in preserving of the honours, by which he was like to lose the honour and merit of so
noble and eminent an action, performed with the hazard of his own and his lady’s life,
with the ruin of his fortune, he sends to Lotdon his son, the said Sir William Ogilvie
of Barras, to give a true relation of the preservation of the honours, who addresses his
majesty with the following petition. ¢

To the King's-mest excellent Majesty.
The humble Petition of Wiliiam Ogikvie, Son to George Ogit’vie’ of Barras.
p -

. Sheweth,

That whereas your petitioner is sent up here by his father, to givé your majesty
notice, that his said father hath had, and still preserves the crown, sceptre, and sword
of Seotland in his custedy, long before the Lnglish possessed the castle of Dunnottor,
with the great hazard of his ltfe,and long and streight i nmpnsonmcut, whigh occaswncd
M of his wife. And in respect og your petitioner’s father his.great interest with
these honours, he could not desert that great charge, to come here and attend your
maJest) hxms:‘llf A ]

‘ herefore th sent your petitioner to have your majesty's particular
order, in relation to the a‘}zresmd honours. e ¥

The Answer to the Petition was as follows :
Whitehall, 28th September, 1660.

His majesty ordains the petitioner’s father to deliver his crown, sceptre, and sward
«Lbe Eﬂzl Muuchl of Scotland, and to get his receipt of them.

. Sic subscribitur, Lavpzspare,
Thu ordcr was by the then Earl of Lauderdale's advice, who said, if John Keith had
kept the honours, then the said 034011: was not able to deliver them ; but if
the said ml\d the keeping of it would evidently and undemnuy appear

who was the true preserver
w1 B this Mmhm cldmm,mw being informed that the. hnnomm
4 '{ m » she gndeavours, by all means, to persuade Mr James
2 rabge Mm mhmiow; but Captain George getting a surmise
60! mmmmwamm sceptre, and it to his house
ﬂixmqﬂm om&heuﬂmxnu,wnohthnmﬁ&
gite hum, as appears by hi ‘whereof the tenor follows :

7‘ - i I .96 M o {4’ 10 D DAE Vieais d A0 RO s
"ﬁamﬁ;om ¥ Mfm Qmﬂply;a  Barsas, of }vh
mm«:zm /no; more ;m,mm re 1 oblige.
crown aud,swoid, shall be fortheoming at-demand, by this my
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icket, written and subscribed this same day 1 received the di ge, 98th
% A mb:mbxtur? ncqv e scharge; @8th Septem-

| oild Mo Jﬁ 1'%.“5."
Within few days thereafter, ‘Captain George gets the khg’;~.ordﬁﬁ'édi;:oa§up~ta

the earl marischal the crown, sceptre; and sword, which readily be o and ety shie
earTs following rcceipt, al) writtin with his own hand o B

i8R J o

“At Dunnottor the 8th day of October, 1660, I, William Earl Marischal, grants me
to have received from George Ogilvie of Barras, the crown, sword, and sceptre, the an-
cient monuments of this kingdom, entire and compleat, in the same condition they
were entrusted by me to him, and discharges the aforesaid George Ogilvie of his re-
ceipt theyeof, by this my subscription, day and place aforesaid.

Sic subscribitur, £

MARriscuavn.”
' :

Captain George Ogilvie not only preseyved, by his prudence, fidelity, and diligent
care, the honours as sgld 15, but also confyderable writs and monuments entrusted to
him when Governor of Dunnottor, (the way<and manner too tedious to insert) such as
the king’s papers. The receipt whereof follows :

¢ WoWilliam F%rl Marischal grant us to have received from George Ogilvie, some
time governgr of oul castle of Dunnottor, some papers belonging to the king’s majesty,
which was in Dunnottor, the time of his being governor there, in two lttle coffers,
which papers consisting to the number of eight score sixteen several pieces, whereof
there are four packets sealed, and one broke open, of which papers I grant the receipt,
and obliges me to warrant the said George at his majesty’s hands, and all others what-
somever, by this ' my warrant. Signed, sealed, and subscribed at London, the fisst of
December, 1655. Sic subscribitur, Marisenax.”

The said Captain George also preserved the registers and papers of the kirk of Scot-
land, which is evident by a receipt thereof, granted to him by the Lord Balcarras, by
order of a commission from the kirk ; also the monuments and charters of the univer-
sity of St Andrews, which he delivered to Robert Zull, upon the order of Robert Hon-
nymen, clerk to the university, and got his receipt thereof. ~And sicklike, the princi-

| papers and charters belonging to the family of Hamilton, which he delivered to
R:mes Hamilton, then servant to the present Duchess Dowager of Hamilton, and'got
his receipt thereof, written on the end of my lady duchess her letter, brought by him
to the said Captain George. All which principal receipts and documents are registrat,
for preservation, in the books of council and session, being the general register of this
‘Captain George Ogilvie having faithfully exonered hirhself of the aforesaid trasts,
takes journey for Londou, to wait upen the king, by whom he was kindly received,
and delivered to his majesty the Earl Marischal’s receipt of the honours; which the
king having read, Captain George humbly requested it back, that it might be kept in
bi as an evident of his and his wife’s loyalty and good service done to'the King
M&Tﬂyo&bmhnd, which his majesty granted, and was graciously pleased to
‘eonfer @ deserved mark of his highness’s favour upen him and his family, by making
dinia knight baronet, by a' patent dated at Whitehall, 5th of March; 1661, and gave
himodaew charter of the-lands of Barras, changing the holding thereof, to hold there-
after blench of his majesty and his successors, 3d of March, 1662, which is ratified in

ument 11thiof A 1679+ Iw ﬁmw;&m:hdﬂmmgwﬁfam
ed; the eminent service done und performed’ by Sir-Geor w ilvie‘of Barras) and
t hie was the preserver of bis majesty’s erown, sword, and sceptre, the*ancient Ho-

-



‘ Tracts during the of ding William 111. RS
ass6F the kingdom of Scotland, and the damages sustained by the said Sir George
}idy;gne ough, from the beginning of the usurpation During iéahm

(uotwithstanding of all temptations and threatnings used against. them by the usurp-
er) ;hm'-csﬁ‘g;‘;hmelvm with the greatest integrity mmnsﬁmy,. under all their
ir),G:org“ ong Ogﬂirie of Bairas was descentled of the bomw;% Fﬂy of Ogilvie
Earl of Ailie: He married Elizabeth Douglas, daughter of Mr Jobn Douglas of Bar-
ras, brother-german to William Earl of Angus, grandfather to the late Duke of Ha-
milton, By this dady he had the present Sir William Ogilvie, who married Isabel
m&wghtﬂ to St John Ogilvie of Invercarity, by whom he had vety hopeful

!
"
*

A clear Vindication and just Defence for publdhing of the foregoing Account ; with other
remarkable Instances, and observable Passafes relating to, and confirming the Truth
of it.

‘ *
For truth sceks no corners, fears no discovery,and justice is no respecter of pergons.

. That the publishing an account of the preservation of crown, sword, and seeptre of
Scotland, from falling into the hands of the English usurpers, by Sir George Ogilvie
of Barras (then governor of Dunnottor castle) and dame Elizabeth Douglas his lady,
was not done of design to offend, or derogate from the just honour of any, far less
those, of the family of Marischal (for whom the said Sir George Ogilvic did on all oc-
casions evidence, and his posterity do yet continuc a grand veneration and duc regard.)
But xhete‘)eing an account of the Earl of Kintore's family given to be inserted in*Mr

Nisbet's book of heraldry ; in which account, the sole and chief preserva-
tion of the honours is ascribed to the now Earl of Kintore, and the then Countess-
Marischal his mother ; and not only makes mentionof the said Sir George
onourable manner, but doth also smother (and might in process of time have
' obliterate) the good service, loyalty, and sufferings of the said. Sir George his
-deserving lady:' And it being credibly reported, that at the same juncture the

aid earl’s account was given to Mr Nisbet at Ejzzburgh, the like account was sent to
‘London, to be insert in Morery’s Dictionary (and that a long time before the printin
_publishing Sir George's account) what less could have done; than, in sel

. ,‘ﬁ:wdgﬂte the fame and goed name, and to perpetuate the snﬁ'e:ilﬁa of the

G reputa-

tge and his lady : For the consideration, that the good name a-

 righteous shall be vindicated and secured after death, is, to a generous na-

re, sensible of truc honour, a great spur and encowragement to worthy and virtuous

‘deeds ; and the earnest desire that people of old had of leaving a good name bebind

hem, and of pespetuating the fame and glovy of their actions to after-ages, did ani-

~mate their brave spirits in the it of virtue, and, with the hazard of their lives, to

 dogrest snd glorous exploisfor heir couniry: Aud as it is the argumens of o great

- lamu y $0 it is a sign ofa low and base spiug o

, there is a in human vature, which will not .
-and to ¢ just commendation of their worth,

- . o
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